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COE Request for Proposals 
Frequently Asked Questions 

 

Please refer to the RFP, the slide deck from the information call, and the 

Applicant Guide for answers to most questions. These are the primary 

source documents for the application process. All are now posted on the 

COE webpage coe.aginganddisabilitybusinessinstitute.org  

 

ELIGIBILITY  

Is there a requirement (or expectation) that the applicant organization is 

an Area Agency on Aging (AAA)? 

No. Please see p. 19 of the RFP for a list of eligible organizations. However, it 

is expected that relevant regional or local Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs), 

Centers for Independent Living (CILs), and public health departments will 

provide letters affirming their commitment to participate in the CCH’s Hub 

Network and/or support for the project. Include such letters from local AAAs, 

CILs, and public health departments from across your targeted geographic 

areas. If your CCH is unable to secure participation and support from these 

local organizations, you should address the reasons why. 

Are organizations that previously received an ACL grant for “Scaling 
Network Lead Entities” eligible to apply for the COE Infrastructure Funding 

Grant? 

Yes. Past ACL "Scaling Network Lead Entities" grantees are eligible to apply 

for these grants.  

Are Centers for Independent Living (CILs) eligible for this CCH grant 

opportunity?  

Yes, CILs are eligible to apply for this funding opportunity. Please see p. 19 

of the RFP for a list of eligible organization types.   

Is providing nutrition support a required service offering under these 

CCHs?  

Nutrition supports are not a required service offering for CCHs applying for 

this funding opportunity. In fact, there are no specific service type 

requirements, except as it relates to the supplemental funding for care 

https://coe.aginganddisabilitybusinessinstitute.org/
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transitions (see the RFP for details). Your CCH and network should be 

focused on the social care needs of the communities you serve.  

Is there a requirement that the CCH (or any providers in the CCH network) 

must be a health care organization to qualify as an applicant for this 
funding opportunity? 

No. For a CCH to qualify for this funding opportunity, it should be able to 

demonstrate a focus on community-level social care (not health care) needs. 

That said, the point of CCHs (through this funding opportunity) is to foster 

and improve alignment between health and social care. So, the application 

includes questions about the CCH's relationships with health care 

organizations as those relationships are essential to promoting this alignment 

and whole-person care for the individuals in your community. 

Can a consortium of CCHs apply for this grant together?  

Yes, that is permissible. See answers to other questions in this FAQ 

document for additional details. 

Does the Pathways Hub Model align with this CCH model?  

Yes, it is a model that would be considered for this funding. That said, this 

funding opportunity, as noted in the RFP, is focused on supporting social care 

CCHs that address older adults and people with disabilities. So, a Pathways 

Hub would need to ensure that their model includes services for those 

individuals. 

Would a food pantry organization qualify to apply?  

A food pantry would have to be a Community Care Hub (or seeking to 

become one) in order to apply for this funding opportunity. We encourage 

review of the RFP and the Information call slide deck for more information on 

the format, goals, and eligible organization types for this funding 

opportunity. 

Do you have to be a current CCH to apply or can an applicant propose to 
become a CCH as the primary goal of their proposal? 

Applicants can apply to this funding opportunity with the primary goal of 

building a CCH. However, such an application would need to have very clear 

goals and objectives and letters of support from critical entities throughout 

the proposed service area(s) as listed in the RFP, including potential network 

members. The applicant should also communicate a clear sense of how the 

proposed project will achieve the goal of building a functional CCH. 
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Can a health care organization (health system, SNF, ACO, etc.) be a CCH for 

purposes of this funding opportunity? 

Under this funding opportunity, CCHs are intended to be community-focused 

(see CCH definition on page 36 of the RFP). Any health care organization-

based applicant should present a plan demonstrating that the CCH’s 

structure, governance, and its network’s social care providers reflect the 

communities the CCH-applicant proposes to serve and meaningfully includes 

those voices in the CCH’s culture and its “DNA”. Further, it is the expectation 

of the COE that applicants are pursuing a variety of contractual funding 

opportunities (including potential foundation and government-based 

contracts). Implied in this expectation is that CCH-applicants are not 

exclusively providing services for patients/members of a particular health 

care organization (health system, health plan, ACO, etc.). This is important 

to ensure alignment with the No Wrong Door system philosophy noted 

throughout the RFP. 

 

Can a start-up (or emerging) CCH apply for this funding opportunity? 

There is no bias in favor of or against existing (or emerging) CCHs in this 

funding opportunity. The COE has expressed a desire to support CCHs in 

areas not adequately served by an existing CCH. All applicants are expected 

to develop a solid plan to address the application requirements.  An emerging 

CCH applicant for this funding opportunity will need to present a clear plan 

for how the new CCH will become viable and how the proposed CCH will 

avoid duplication of what existing CCHs are already doing to support the 

proposed service area.  

 
Are there restrictions around being a CBO in more than one CCH's 
network?  

 There are no restrictions along those lines.  

Does the CCH have to be focused on aging and/or disability -- or is the 
purpose of this focused more on the care and systems coordination and on 

SDOH, health equity, inclusion? 

Serving older adults and people with disabilities should be a part of any 
applicant's proposal. As part of that approach, we expect applicants to 

describe how the CCH will pursue contracts with health care organizations (if 
funded) to deliver social care programs and services for older adults and 

people with disabilities, reach diverse consumers and serve traditionally 
hard-to-reach populations, and include underserved communities (as defined 
by Executive Order On Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved 

Communities Through the Federal Government). It is also expected that 
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relevant regional or local Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs), Centers for 

Independent Living (CILs), and public health departments will provide letters 
affirming their commitment to support the project and participate in the 

CCH’s Hub Network, if appropriate. That does not preclude CCHs from also 
serving additional population segments or geographies. In fact, we welcome 
proposals that, for example, also include approaches to address younger 

populations in need. 
 

Is there any precedent for a Skilled Nursing Facility (SNF) to become a 
CCH? 

At this time, we are unaware of any CCHs within the aging and disability 

networks that serve as SNFs, but that does not mean that such entities do 

not exist. The focus of this funding opportunity is to support CCHs and their 

community-based social care collaborations with health care organizations. 

We suspect some of those collaborations may now or in the future involve 

SNFs. 

Must the CCH have a physical location or can it be a virtual entity that 

brings the organizations together via an online platform? 

The CCH is not required to have a physical location. It can be a virtual entity. 

See other questions for additional information on CCH structures and 

governance. 

Is there a designation process for determining whether an entity is an 
established CCH?  

There is no designation process for CCHs at this time. Please see the RFP for 

information on the types of entities that are eligible to apply, as well as the 

profile of a successful CCH on page 8. 

Can you be a for profit business with a 401-C4 arm that performs as a 
CCH? 

For profit organizations are not eligible for this grant opportunity. Please see 

p. 19 of the RFP for eligible applicants.  

What criteria are available to determine if our care transitions program 
would be eligible for the CT evaluation of this grant? 

Please see p. 13-16, 21 and 22 for more information about the CT evaluation 

and information requirements. 
 

Can a not-for-profit hospital apply for this grant? 

 Please see p. 19 of the RFP for a list of eligible organization types. 
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Can more than one CCH be awarded to cover overlapping/the same 

geography?  

It would depend on the geography covered and purpose of each CCH. It is 

possible that the COE would fund multiple CCHs in the same state. However, 

the application asks specific questions about what other CCHs may be 

operating in your geographic area and how your CCH proposes to ensure 

coordination versus duplication. If this applies to your organization, we 

strongly encourage you to pay close attention to those questions. 

Is there a minimum number of participating entities (CBOs, health care 

collaborators, etc.) needed to create an initial CCH or CCH lead network? 

 No, there is no required minimum number of participating entities. 

Could the CCH network include end of life care?  

A CCH may include end of life care as a service offering. However, funds from 

this funding opportunity may not be used for service provision. 

 

INTENT TO APPLY 

If our CCH is a legal entity, however several CBOs are actively involved in 
its development and governance, how do we decide which organization 

should be named as the applicant?  

If the CCH is a legal entity, that legal entity should be named as the 

applicant. If not, the organization leading the CCH should be named. 

Additional information will be requested in the application regarding 

governance and applicants are encouraged to outline the governance roles 

and responsibilities of other CBOs involved in response to that question. 

If our CCH is a subsidiary of another nonprofit CBO, what entity name 
should be used as the applicant?  

If the CCH is a subsidiary or department of another organization, or simply 

operates under a CBO structure using a “doing business as” (DBA) name, we 

encourage you to list the name that you will use when describing the CCH to 

external audiences. That’s likely the DBA. If you list a DBA as the applicant in 

the initial form, there is a subsequent question that asks about a parent (or 

“sponsoring”) organization. In this case, you would list the DBA as the 

Applicant and the organization of which the CCH is a subsidiary as the parent 

or “sponsoring” organization.  
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If the CCH is not a legal entity and its administrative responsibilities are 

shared through operating agreements between several community-based 
organizations (CBOs), what name should we use as the applicant? 

If the CCH is not a legal entity or subsidiary of a legal entity and the CCH’s 

roles and responsibilities are divided among several organizations, use the 

DBA name as the Applicant. The governance group should also choose and 

list a lead CBO to coordinate the application and list that CBO as the 

“sponsoring” organization. Additional information will be requested in the 

application regarding governance and applicants are encouraged to outline 

the operational and governance roles and responsibilities of the other CBOs 

involved in response to that question.  

Can we list the address for a single representative for the application even 
though it is being submitted on behalf of collaborating organizations?  

Yes, a primary contact overall is ideal. That said, in the Basic Information 

and Notice of Intent to apply form (the initial form all applicants must 

complete), there is space for three contacts. We recommend listing at least 

two. 

If an applicant indicates their intent to be considered for the supplemental 

COE CT Evaluation opportunity, will the applicant be considered for a COE 
grantee if you don't meet the qualifications of the CT evaluation? 

Yes, the COE Infrastructure Funding Opportunity (COE grant) is this 

RFP’s core funding opportunity. Any applicant that did not meet the 

qualifications for the Care Transitions Focus Opportunity and Evaluation (CT 

Evaluation) would still be eligible for the core COE grant.   

What capabilities would make an applicant most competitive for this grant 

opportunity?  

Please review the entire RFP as the appropriate answer to this question is 

best understood through an understanding of all aspects of the RFP. That 

said, pp. 8-9 in the RFP offers an emerging profile of successful CCHs and the 

goal of this funding opportunity is to help CCHs become successful or 

increase their infrastructure and operational capabilities. Additional 

information was also included in the Information call. Both the RFP and the 

Information call are posted in the RFP information section of the COE 

website.  
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Is the intent to apply form required? 

The initial form, "Basic Information and Intent to Apply" is required to be 

completed in Submittable in order to access any of the other application 

forms. As the name implies, in addition to the Intent to Apply, this initial 

form also includes some basic information such as contact name, email, etc.  

 

While we are requesting that this form be completed by March 8, 2024, 

completing this initial form by that deadline is not a requirement. It is a 

courtesy request for our review process and planning purposes. However, 

applicants may complete and submit this form (as well as all other forms) 

any time prior to the application deadline of April 5, 2024 at 5:00 pm 

Eastern. Please note that the "Intent to Apply" question on that initial form is 

nonbinding. 

Is there a specific date by which the Intent to Apply is due? 

The Intent to Apply is requested by no later than March 8, 2024 for review 

and planning purposes. It can be completed by submitting the initial form 

"Basic Information and Intent to Apply" through Submittable. As the name 

implies, in addition to the Intent to Apply, this form also includes some basic 

information such as contact name, email, etc. It is also the first form 

applicants must complete in the application process.  

 

As a result, all applicants must complete this initial form in Submittable in 

order to access the other application forms and they may do so at any time 

prior to the application deadline (for all forms) of April 5, 2024 at 5:00 pm 

Eastern. Please note that the Intent to Apply is non-binding. 

What distinctions can be made between "expanding capacity" vs "capacity 
building"? Is there greater emphasis on expansion?  

 The funding can be used to develop or expand a CCH. 

Is there a deadline or "cut-off date" for applicants to submit clarifying 

questions regarding the RFP?  

We will update this FAQs document periodically throughout March 2024 and 

will accept questions through Monday, March 25. We are establishing this 

cut-off date for the submission of clarifying questions to ensure we are able 

to upload a final version of this FAQs document by close of business on 

Friday, March 29, 2024. Additionally, we remind all applicants to complete 

and submit your application well prior to the April 5th deadline. 
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How is this COE CCH grant effort different from building "accountable care 

communities" or the AARP Aging in Place efforts? Is there greater focus on 
medical to social care "handoffs"?  

CCHs are meant to provide administrative and operational support for social 

care providers (CBOs) with the objective of fostering contracts and other 

relationships that bridge gaps, catalyze information sharing, and encourage 

alignment between health care organizations and social care providers to 

facilitate the delivery of high quality, person-centered services to older adults 

and people with disabilities, particularly in historically and/or currently 

marginalized communities and underserved populations. 

Is there a preference given to CCHs who provide state-wide coverage vs 
single county coverage?  

There is no preference given based on the size of a network or the 

geographic area served by a CCH and its network. The goals can be found in 

the RFP and Information Call materials which are now posted to the RFP 

webpage on the COE website. 

Does all supporting documentation need to be submitted by the April 5th 

application deadline?  

Yes. All applications must be submitted in their entirety by April 5, 2024 at 

5:00 pm Eastern, including all required file uploads and supporting 

documentation (e.g., letters of commitment and support, work plan, budget 

workbook, etc.). 

Can a CCH focus on a specific population or SDOH? For example, could all 
the CBOs be focused on supporting a hub that focuses on housing for aging 
and disabled individuals. 

While this is possible as a starting point for a CCH, we encourage 

CCHs/potential applicants to think broadly about achieving a whole-person 

approach to address the HRSNs of client individuals and the needs/pain 

points of potential health care contracting organizations as you consider the 

needs of your target populations and service offerings.   

 

ONLINE APPLICATION PROCESS (SUBMITTABLE) 

Are there required formatting standards that need to be applied to the RFP 

submission?  

The RFP submission is not a narrative document with page limits or required 

formatting standards. Instead, all applications must be submitted through 

Submittable, our online application platform.   
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The Submittable application consists of eight required forms (including the 

"Basic Information and Intent to Apply"), and each form contains a series of 

questions for which you will be required to submit responses. Response types 

vary based on the question, and include single response (e.g., yes or no) as 

well as open text fields with a designated character limit.   

 

The Applicant Planning Guide includes specific elements to help you 

understand the response types and question flow you will encounter with 

Submittable. It is available in the RFP section of the COE website 

(coe.agingandbusinessdisabilityinstitute.org).  

Is there a maximum number of pages for the application submission in 

addition to format requirements?  

The RFP submission is not a narrative document with page limits or required 

formatting standards (margins, font, type size, etc.).  Instead, all 

applications must be submitted through Submittable, our online application 

platform.   

 

The Submittable application consists of eight required forms (including the 

"Basic Information and Intent to Apply" form), and each form contains a 

series of questions for which you will be required to submit responses. 

Response types vary based on the question, and include single response 

(e.g., yes or no) as well as open text fields with a designated character limit.   

 

The Applicant Planning Guide includes specific elements to help you 

understand the response types and question flow you will encounter with 

Submittable. It is available in the RFP section of the COE website 

(coe.agingandbusinessdisabilityinstitute.org).  

Is there a document limit for uploads for Submittable? 

Applications are structured in a question and response format in Submittable 

versus a single narrative document (see the Applicant Guide in the RFP 

section of the COE website for more information). For requested file uploads, 

Submittable has two types of size limits as follows:  

 

- 400 mb for an individual file upload  

- 800 mb for all file uploads in your complete application submission.   

 

Please contact us directly at COE@usaging.org if your file size(s) exceeds 

these limitations and you encounter errors in Submittable because of these 

file size limits. 
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Are responses submitted in Submittable forms saved in order to resume 

working on them later? 

Yes, you can save a draft of your work, leave the application at any point and 

return to complete the remaining questions at a later time.  

 

The Submitter Resource Center is a hub full of articles designed to help you 

with many of the most frequently asked questions – just like this one. Please 

check it out at: 

https://submittable.help/en/collections/185534-help-for-applicants 

Will the scoring criteria accompany the application forms?  

 Please see pp. 29-33 of the RFP for this information.  

 

SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTATION 

For letters of support, are we permitted to list the number of counties our 

geographic reach would cover?  

A description of the CCH's geographic reach (aka "Service Area") is actually a 

required element in your application. However, the questions about your 

CCH's geographic reach are included in the "Project Abstract, Organizational 

Capacity, Project Relevance, and Current Need" and "Additional Information" 

forms. Your Letters of Support should provide evidence of your ability to 

provide services in those geographic areas. 

Will the workplan template be posted for the application? 

Yes, a work plan template has been provided and can be found on the RFP 

page. A link to that page and additional information can be found on the COE 

website (coe.agingandbusinessdisabilityinstitute.org). 

Will a Word or PDF version of the questions in Submittable be available?  

The applicant planning guide - while not intended to be an exact replica of 

the Submittable format or questions - includes specific elements to help you 

understand the response types and question flow you will encounter with 

Submittable. The applicant guide can be found in the RFP section of the COE 

webpage (coe.agingandbusinessdisabilityinstitute.org) 
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Regarding Letters of Intent, would a county/local health department letter 

of support qualify or does it have to be the state department of health?  

We have requested both. That said, the absence of both is not disqualifying. 

Should letters of support be uploaded individually or submitted altogether 
as a single pdf or file upload? 

Specific instructions for how to submit letters of commitment and support - 

including information about allowable file types and whether letters should be 

compiled into a single document - accompany each question in both the 

Applicant Planning Guide and in Submittable.  

 

Generally speaking, you will be asked to merge letters of commitment or 

support by group type (e.g., Hub network participating CBOs, etc.) into one 

PDF prior to uploading. 

If you have a large 200+CCH network, can you select a sample of partner 

agencies (approx. 25) within the network to submit their letters of 
support? 

Yes, you can select a sample of key partner agencies to provide letters of 

commitment. Be certain it provides a solid sampling across organization 

types, service lines, and geographies. 

What specific information should be included in the Community Care Hub 
Network members’ letters of support? 

Please see pp. 24-25 of the RFP for specification related to letters of 

commitment. Such letters should outline and confirm the specific 

commitments to the project (should it be funded) made by key collaborating 

organizations and agencies (including Network CBOs, proposed health care 

partners, and public health departments).  

 

AWARD FUNDING/ PERMISSIBLE USE OF FUNDS 

What is the average grant amount? 

 Please see p. 16 of the RFP for this information. 

The total 2-year funding amount for the COE is broken down into different 

amounts for each year in the RFP. Is there a reason these annual amounts 
differ? 

It is based on the funding that we have available from ACL for Year 1 and 

anticipate having for Year 2. 



COE Request for Proposals 

Frequently Asked Questions 

Updated: March 5, 2024 

 

12 

 

Can funds be used to pay for units of service delivered by a network CBO to 

clients referred through the CCH, such as Meals on Wheels meal or a ride. 

These grants are meant to support building and strengthening the 

operations, infrastructure, and sustainability of CCHs for delivery of services 

that address HRSNs through contracts with health care entities, not for units 

of service. Please see suggested potential uses of grant funding on pp. 10-11 

of the RFP. 

How are CCHs funded beyond the expiration of this award?  

CCHs are funded through a variety of mechanisms. One of the primary goals 

of any CCH should be to achieve sustainability through health care contracts 

and other funded programs they administer, including grants, cooperative 

agreements, and more.   

Are there rules or restrictions governing use of funds?  

 Please see p. 28 of the RFP for that information. 

Can a CCH use funds to award subawards to network members or partner 

agencies?  

While this is allowable (although not for the provision of units of service), we 

remind all applicants that these grants are meant to support building and 

strengthening the operations, infrastructure, and sustainability of CCHs to 

support the delivery of services that address HRSNs through contracts with 

health care entities. Please see suggested potential uses of grant funding on 

pp. 10-11 of the RFP. Should an applicant choose to propose subawards to 

network members or partner agencies, applicants should ensure and 

communicate very clearly in their applications how those subawards further 

the goals outlined here and throughout the RFP. 

What rules apply to indirect cost percentages? Is there a limit on the 
percentage of indirect costs? 

 Please see the RFP budget template for that information. 

For potential applicants with a similar model for non-elderly Medicaid 

populations/programs, could funds be used to help with the CCH's 
planning to expand services to the older adult population? 

 Yes, that is an allowable use of grant funds. 

Will CCHs need to have additional revenue sources, such as fundraising, to 

maintain viability as a service delivery network?  

The intent is for CCHs to achieve sustainability by pursuing health care 

contracts which would fund current and future CCH operations. However, 
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applicants with limited (or no) current contracts (and associated revenue) 

may apply where the applicant offers a strong proposal for building a CCH to 

achieve the goals outlined in the RFP. 

Can an applicant contract for their own internal evaluation? If yes, is there 
a percentage limit in the budget? 

It is not the intention of the COE that COE Grantees hire a separate 

independent evaluator. The expectation is that each COE Grantee 

demonstrate a thoughtful method through which the CCH's standard business 

practices include outcomes metrics for their programs and services to ensure 

the success of the applicant's proposed intervention(s) and we expect 

information about that process will be shared with the COE during the project 

period and as part of an end of project reflections and lessons-learned report. 

Please see suggested potential uses of grant funding on pp. 10-11 of the 

RFP.  

Will this grant be offered again (after the initial 2-year cycle)? 

We cannot provide such information at this time as it would depend on the 

availability of additional federal dollars or other funding. 

Can funds be used to purchase software that enables communication and 
transfer of health information between a hub and healthcare entities? 

 Yes, that would be an allowable expense. 

Can COE CCH grant funding be used for service delivery, specifically to 

start or expand a new service offering?  

While grant funding may not be used for units of service, it could be used to 

expand CCH service offerings and lines of business (e.g., staff training and 

expansion, and to conduct process mapping and workflows for service 

activation and relevant follow up to ascertain service delivery outcome). 

Can funding be used for brick-and-mortar construction costs?  

No, it cannot be used for construction costs. Please see p. 28 of the RFP for 

restrictions on the use of grant funds. 

Can funds be used to provide technical assistance (TA) and any startup 

funds for new Network Members to join our CCH? 

Provision of technical assistance to Network participating CBOs would be an 

allowable expense.  

Are matched funds required?  

 No, there is no match required for this grant. 



COE Request for Proposals 

Frequently Asked Questions 

Updated: March 5, 2024 

 

14 

 

OTHER/MISCELLANEOUS  

Should the hub (CCH) become a member of USAging if it is not already a 

member? 

There is no requirement that an applicant organization is a member of 

USAging to be eligible for selection and funding. 

Do any CCHs use/partner with a Health Information Exchange/Network or 
Community Information Exchange? 

Yes, many existing CCHs partner with Community Information Exchanges 

(when they exist in a CCH service area) and/or their regional or statewide 

Health Information Exchange(s)/Network(s).   

What resources are available to support the development of a CCH from 

the start?  

Potential applicants may propose to build a CCH through this funding 

opportunity. Additionally, please see 

https://www.aginganddisabilitybusinessinstitute.org/resources-for-

developing-a-community-care-hub/ for information resources to support CCH 

and network development and operations. See also related questions on this 

topic. 

Do community care hubs usually provide resources directly or network 
with the orgs providing the direct services? 

 It depends on the CCH and network.  

Are CBOs encouraged to collaborate with existing CCHs instead of 
developing their own CCH in their area?  

Yes, we strongly encourage CBOs to seek out and work with existing CCHs in 

their communities. 

End of FAQs as of March 5, 2024. Additional FAQs may be added 

during March 2024 as received and answered. 

 


